
INSPECTION RECORD 
 
Region:   III  Inspection Report No. 2019001 License No. 21-18724-01 
  Docket No. 030-14088 
 
 Inspection Report No. 2019006 GL per 10 CFR 31.5(a)  
  Docket No.  999-90003 
 
Licensee: McDowell and Associates, 21355 Hatcher Avenue, Ferndale, MI 48220 
 
Locations Inspected on 07/24/19: Same as above 

Job site at 22000 Haggerty Road, Northville, MI 
 
Locations Inspected on 08/28/19: 3730 James Savage Road, Midland, MI 
 
Radiation Safety Officer: John Kalisz III Telephone No. 248-399-2066 
Alternate Contact:  Brian Biasutto Telephone No. 248-514-6954 
 
Program Code: 03121 Priority: 5 
 
Type of Inspection: (  ) Initial (X) Routine (  ) Announced 
 (  ) Special (  ) Field (X) Unannounced 
 
Last Inspection Date: 06/26/14 Date of This Inspection:  07/24/19 and 08/28/19 
Next Inspection Date: 07/24/22 (  ) Normal (X) Reduced 
 
Justification: Multiple SLIVs with inadequate oversight a root cause of several violations. 
 
Summary of Findings and Actions: 
 

(  ) No violations cited, clear U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) Form 591 or 
regional letter issued 

(  ) Non-cited violations (NCVs) 
(  ) Violation(s), Form 591 issued 
(X) Violation(s), regional letter issued 
(X) Follow-up on previous violations 

 
Inspectors: Ryan Craffey, Health Physicist    

 
 /RA/   Date  12/09/2019  

  Signature 
 
 Edward Harvey, Health Physicist    

 
 /RA/   Date  12/10/2019  

  Signature 
 
Approved: Robert Ruiz, Acting Branch Chief, MIB    
 

 /RA/   Date:  12/19/19  
  Signature 
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PART I - LICENSE, INSPECTION, INCIDENT/EVENT AND ENFORCEMENT HISTORY 
 
1. AMENDMENTS AND PROGRAM CHANGES SINCE LAST INSPECTION: 

 
AMENDMENT # DATE SUBJECT 
 
11 05/12/16 Add authorization for InstroTek 3500 gauges 
10 (corrected) 02/05/16 Corrected License Condition 17 
10 01/22/16 Renewal 

 
2. INSPECTION AND ENFORCEMENT HISTORY: 

 
The NRC last inspected the licensee on June 26, 2014 and before that  
February 17, 2010.  Both inspections included a review of the licensee’s program at its 
office in Ferndale; the 2014 inspection also included observations at a temporary job site 
in Bloomfield, Michigan.  No violations of NRC requirements were identified during either 
inspection and the violation was closed. (Section 4.F.)  
 
One violation of Title 10 of the Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) 71.5(a) was still open 
from IR 03014088/2005001(DNMS) regarding the failure to ensure that shipping papers 
were readily available while transporting hazardous material on public highways.  The 
status of this violation was reviewed during this inspection. 

 
3. INCIDENT/EVENT HISTORY: 

 
No open items or events since the last inspection. 

 
PART II - INSPECTION DOCUMENTATION 
 
1. ORGANIZATION AND SCOPE OF PROGRAM: 
 

McDowell and Associates was authorized by its NRC Materials License to possess 
Troxler and InstroTek portable gauges containing byproduct material at offices in 
Ferndale and Midland, Michigan, and to use those devices at temporary job sites in NRC 
jurisdiction.  At the time of the inspection, the licensee possessed 17 Troxler 3400 series 
gauges and 10 InstroTek Model 3500 Xplorer gauges.  Twenty-two of these gauges 
were dispatched from Ferndale, the remaining five were dispatched from Midland.  The 
licensee also possessed a generally licensed Thermo Scientific Analytical Instruments 
Inc. XLp series portable x-ray fluorescence device.   
 
The licensee’s President served as RSO, assisted in day-to-day oversight of the 
program by the Director of Construction Materials Testing (CMT) Services in Ferndale, 
and the Operations Manager in Midland. 

 
2. SCOPE OF INSPECTION 

 
Inspection Procedure(s) Used:  87124 
 
Focus Areas Evaluated:  All 
The inspectors independently toured the Ferndale and Midland offices to evaluate the 
licensee’s measures for materials security and accountability, hazard communication 
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and exposure control.  The inspectors interviewed the licensee’s management to discuss 
portable gauge maintenance, emergency response, gauge user training and program 
oversight.  The inspectors also reviewed a selection of records, including sealed source 
leak test results, personnel dosimetry reports, and tracking mechanisms for periodic 
requirements. 
 
The inspector who visited the Ferndale office also visited a temporary job site in 
Northville, Michigan to observe the conduct of licensed activities and to interview an 
authorized user.  The inspector observed density testing, discussed the use and 
transport of licensed material with the user, and reviewed shipping papers and 
emergency response information present at the job site. 
  

3. INDEPENDENT AND CONFIRMATORY MEASUREMENTS 
 
Using a Thermo Fisher RadEye G survey meter calibrated on April 19, 2019, the 
inspector conducted independent and confirmatory surveys at the Ferndale office.  The 
inspector found no readings there which would indicate exposures to office employees 
or members of the public in excess of regulatory limits.  The inspector also conducted 
independent surveys with the same meter in proximity to the gauge at the job site in 
Northville.  Readings there were consistent with the applicable Certificate of Registration 
(No. NC-646-D-130-S, dated April 4, 2007, for Troxler 3400 series gauges). 

  
4. VIOLATIONS, NCVs, AND OTHER SAFETY ISSUES 

 
A. Leak Testing 
 

During a review of radiation safety program documentation in Ferndale and Midland, 
the inspectors found that the licensee had not tested several devices at its Midland 
office for leakage and/or contamination at the required frequencies.  Of the five 
Troxler 3400 series gauges in use there, one was last tested on September 6, 2017, 
and three others were tested on September 6, 2017 and again on  
February 19, 2019.  The fifth Troxler 3400 gauge was not in service at the time of the 
inspection and was therefore not required to be leak tested every 12 months.  In 
addition, a generally-licensed Thermo Scientific Analytical Instruments Inc. XLp 
series portable x-ray fluorescence device was last tested on August 23, 2018.   
 
Condition 13 of NRC Materials License No. 21-18724-01, Amendment No. 11 
requires, in part, that sealed sources possessed under the license shall be tested for 
leakage and/or contamination at intervals not to exceed the intervals specified in the 
certificate of registration issued by the NRC under 10 CFR 32.210 or by an 
Agreement State. 
 
Certificate of Registration No. NC-646-D-130-S, dated April 4, 2007, for Troxler 
Electronic Laboratories Model No. 3430 Portable Surface Moisture and Density 
Gauges states that the leak test frequency for these devices is every 12 months.   
 
Title 10 CFR 31.5(c)(2) requires, in part, with exceptions notwithstanding here, that 
any person who acquires, receives, possesses, uses or transfers byproduct material 
in a device pursuant to a general license shall assure that the device is tested for 
leakage of radioactive material at no longer than six-month intervals.   
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The licensee’s failure to leak test four specifically licensed portable density gauges at 
the required intervals is a SLIV violation of License Condition 13.A, and the failure to 
test a generally-licensed portable x-ray fluorescence analyzer for leakage within the 
last six months is a SLIV violation of 10 CFR 31.5(c)(2).  Both are considered SLIV 
violations in accordance with example 6.3.D.3 of the NRC Enforcement Policy.   
 
The inspectors determined that the root cause of both violations was a lack of 
adequate oversight, specifically for routine maintenance of devices containing 
generally-licensed material.  As corrective action, on July 25, 2019, the licensee 
collected leak tests for each portable gauge in Midland and provided the results of 
their analysis (all negative) to the inspector.  The licensee stated that in early   
August 2019, they had collected a leak test for the XRF, however as of the date of 
exit meeting, the licensee has not yet provided documentation of the test or its 
results to the inspectors.  The licensee has not yet provided corrective actions to 
address the potential for recurrence of similar violations.   
 

B. Physical Inventories   
 
During discussions with the CMT Services Director in Ferndale, the inspector learned 
that as of the date of this inspection, the licensee had not been performing physical 
inventories to account for all sources and/or devices received and possessed under 
the license.  The licensee did maintain a running log of which gauge user was in 
possession of which gauge; however, this log was not reconciled or otherwise 
checked at periodic intervals to verify that each user still possessed his or her gauge.   
 
Condition 15 of NRC License No. 21-18754-01 requires that the licensee shall 
conduct a physical inventory every 6 months, or at other intervals approved by the 
U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, to account for all sources and/or devices 
received and possessed under the license.   
 
The licensee’s failure to perform physical inventories every 6 months, or at other 
intervals approved by the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, is a SLIV violation of 
License Condition 15, in accordance with example 6.3.D.3 of the Enforcement 
Policy.   
 
The root cause of the violation was a lack of understanding of applicable NRC 
requirements.  The licensee has not yet provided corrective actions to restore 
compliance.  As corrective action to address the potential for recurrence, the 
licensee has stated that it would “monitor the gauges on a shorter time span,” by 
inspecting each gauge when it is brought into the office and documenting the day 
and time of the inspection.  The licensee has not yet indicated how it will ensure that 
these inspections (or other equivalent physical inventory measures) are completed at 
least every 6 months for all portable gauges in its possession.   
 

C. Program Audits 
 

During additional discussions with the CMT Services Director, the inspector learned 
that as of the date of this inspection, the licensee had not been performing periodic 
audits of its radiation safety program.  Title 10 CFR 20.1101(c) requires that each 
licensee shall periodically (at least annually) review the radiation protection program 
content and implementation.   
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The licensee’s failure to review the radiation protection program at least annually is a 
SLIV violation of 10 CFR 20.1101(c), in accordance with example 6.3.D.3 of the 
Enforcement Policy. 
 
The root cause of the violation appeared to be a lack of understanding of applicable 
NRC requirements.  The licensee has not yet provided corrective action to restore 
compliance or address the potential for recurrence.  During the on-site inspection, 
the licensee expressed interest in using the example portable gauge audit checklist 
in Appendix E of NUREG-1556 Volume 1.  The inspector forwarded a copy of this 
checklist to the CMT Services Director on August 1, 2019, and to the RSO on 
September 13, 2019. 
 

D. Portable Gauge Security 
 

During a tour of the licensee’s portable gauge storage vault in Midland, the inspector 
there noted that the cage door was secured with only one lock.  The two Troxler 
3400 Series portable gauges within the storage cage were secured within their 
respective cases by a lock on the hasp.  However, the cases were not secured within 
the cage with an additional control to prevent unauthorized removal of the case with 
the gauge inside.  The licensee stated that they normally use the exterior doors of 
the building as a second physical control to secure the gauges.  However, upon 
arrival to the facility, as well as upon entering the garage bay where the gauges were 
stored, the inspector noted that the roll-up door to the garage was open with no 
licensee personnel present.   
 
Title 10 CFR 30.34(i) requires that each portable gauge licensee use a minimum of 
two independent physical controls that form tangible barriers to secure portable 
gauges from unauthorized removal, whenever portable gauges are not under the 
control and constant surveillance of the licensee. 

 
The licensee’s failure to use a minimum of two independent physical controls to 
secure the two gauges in Midland is a SLIV violation of 10 CFR 30.34(i), in 
accordance with example 6.3.D.10 of the Enforcement Policy. 

 
The inspector determined that the root cause of the violation was an oversight by 
licensee personnel.  As immediate corrective action to restore compliance, the 
licensee closed and secured all external doors to the facility that were not in constant 
view of licensee personnel.  As corrective action to address the potential for 
recurrence, the licensee installed a second, independent lock on the cage door 
where the gauges are stored.   

 
E. Hazardous Material Transportation Training 
 

During a review of training documentation for authorized users based in Midland, the 
inspector there found that two individuals had not completed training on US 
Department of Transportation (USDOT) requirements for transportation of hazardous 
material in over five years.  One had last completed the training in June 2005, and 
the other last completed it in July 2014.   
 
Title 10 CFR Part 71.5(a) requires that each licensee who transports licensed 
material outside the site of usage, as specified in the NRC license, or where 
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transport is on public highways, or who delivers licensed material to a carrier for 
transport, shall comply with the applicable requirements of the DOT regulations in 
49 CFR parts 107, 171 through 180, and 390 through 397, appropriate to the mode 
of transport. 
 
Title 49 CFR Part 172.702 requires that each hazmat employer shall ensure that 
each hazmat employee is trained and tested, and that no hazmat employee performs 
any function subject to the requirements of 49 CFR Parts 171-177 unless trained, in 
accordance with Subpart H of 49 CFR Part 172.  The terms Hazmat Employer and 
Hazmat Employee are defined in 49 CFR 171.8. 
 
The licensee’s failure to comply with 49 CFR 172.702 is a SLIV violation of  
10 CFR 71.5(a), in accordance with example of 6.3.D.4 of the NRC Enforcement 
Policy. 
 
The root cause of the violation appeared to be a lack of adequate oversight, 
specifically for ensuring timely completion of training.  As corrective action to restore 
compliance, the licensee committed to “implement a training program for all gauge 
users starting with [the] Midland office” and to provide the inspectors with “training 
certification for Midland and Ferndale employees.”  As of the date of the exit meeting, 
however, the licensee has not provided any such documentation to the inspectors.  
As corrective action to address the potential for recurrence, the licensee committed 
to create a chart to track the completion of training for gauge users in Midland, 
similar to the one in use at Ferndale.  

 
F. Closure of Previous Violations 

 
The licensee was cited in IR 03014088/2005001(DNMS) for a violation of  
10 CFR 71.5(a) regarding the failure to comply with 49 CFR 177.817(e), which 
requires that the driver of a motor vehicle containing hazardous material ensure that 
the shipping papers which must accompany that material are readily available to 
authorities in the event of accident or inspection. 
 
The inspectors reviewed the licensee’s corrective actions, which appeared adequate, 
and found no additional instances of the violation during this or previous routine 
inspections.  Therefore, the violation is closed. 

 
5. PERSONNEL CONTACTED: 

 
 Brian Biasutto – Director of Construction Materials Testing Services 
 Eric Johnson – Midland Operations Manager 
# John Kalisz III – President, RSO 
 Rachel Sietz – Authorized User 
 
#  Attended exit meeting on November 19, 2019.  
 

-END- 
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	Edward Harvey, Health Physicist

